IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Erich M. Martin,		Case No. 81810		
	Appellant,	Consolidated with:	Electronically Filed May 24 2021 10:58 p.m.	
VS.		Case No. 82517	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court	
Raina L. Martin,	Respondent.	11 0	the Eighth Judicial District onorable Rebecca L. Burton	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

Chad F. Clement, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12192 Kathleen A. Wilde, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12522 10001 Park Run Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 cclement@maclaw.com kwilde@maclaw.com

MAC:16211-0014330956_1

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

In case number 81810, Erich challenges the August 11, 2020, post-decree Order Regarding Enforcement of Military Retirement Benefits in which the District Court addressed a change in facts and important changes of law. Erich timely filed his notice of appeal on September 9, 2020, and the matter is properly before the Court under NRAP 3A(b)(8) and *Burton v. Burton*, 99 Nev. 698, 700, 669 P.2d 703, 705 (1983).

Case number 82517 centers on an award of attorneys' fees pendente lite. Although Erich's counsel inadvertently listed a subsequent order in the otherwise timely notice of appeal,¹ this Court denied Raina Martin ("Raina")'s motion to dismiss because Erich's case appeal statement conveyed the subject of the appeal and Raina was not misled by the error. *See* Order Denying Motion to Dismiss, Granting Motions to Consolidate, and Granting Motions for Extension of Time dated April 23, 2021 (citing *Forman v. Eagle Thrifty Drugs & Markets, Inc.*, 89 Nev. 533, 536, 516 P.2d 1234, 1236 (1973)). This Court has jurisdiction to consider the appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(8).

¹ The notice of entry for the relevant order was served on January 28, 2021. Erich filed a notice of appeal on February 12, 2021, and an amended notice of appeal on March 5, 2021.

II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

The Supreme Court of Nevada should retain these consolidated appeals because the lead case, 81810, centers on an issue of first impression that implicates preemption, the supremacy of federal law, and the jurisdiction of Nevada's family courts. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11).

The Supreme Court of Nevada should also retain this appeal because division of disabled veterans' benefits is an issue of statewide importance with significant public policy underpinnings. *See* NRAP 17(a)(12). As evidenced by Supreme Court of Nevada case number 81599, the Court's consideration is also warranted because Nevada district courts are divided as to the legal standards.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Does federal law, including the Uniformed Services Former Spouse Protection Act (USFSPA), 10 U.S.C. 1408, and *Howell v. Howell*, 581 U.S. _____, 137 S. Ct. 1400 (2017), preempts state courts from ordering indemnification that is effectively a division of a veteran's disability benefits?

2. Did the District Court err by ignoring public policy that explicitly seeks to protect disabled veterans?

3. Did the support exception to *Howell* apply where Raina is in a registered domestic partnership, and the District Court discontinued spousal support in 2016?

4. Is indemnity warranted on contract grounds where Erich was forced to sign the Decree of Divorce and related QDRO despite his objections and inability to negotiate material terms?

5. Did the District Court err by granting indemnity on the alternative basis of preclusion given that neither party raised or briefed the issue?

6. Did the District Court abuse its discretion by awarding attorney fees pendente lite to Raina where both parties are financially well off, and the Court's order lacked any assessment of reasonableness or the *Brunzell* factors?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The important purpose of veterans' disability benefits is to help disabled veterans live productive lives after service-related injuries. In the same way that personal injury judgments and social security disability are the separate property of the injured or disabled spouse, federal law prohibits state courts from dividing veterans' disability benefits in the course of divorce proceedings.

In *Howell v. Howell*, 581 U.S. ____, 137 S. Ct. 1400 (2017), the Supreme Court of the United States confirmed that attempts to circumvent federal preemption are improper. Although the Uniformed Services Former Spouse Protection Act and earlier Supreme Court precedents similarly conveyed that only a veteran's "disposable retired pay" is divisible, *Howell* rebuffed the use of indemnification and other semantics which obstruct "the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." 581 U.S. at ____, 137 S. Ct. at 1402.

In this case, the Decree of Divorce granted to Raina "one-half (1/2) of the marital interest in the [sic] Erich's military retirement." After Erich retired, the

Department of Veterans Affairs rated Erich disabled and found him eligible for disabled retirement benefits. The CRSC Division of the Army also determined that Erich was eligible for Combat Related Special Compensation because of his serious, combat-related injuries. As required under federal law, Erich waived retirement pay in order to receive disability benefits.

Although disability benefits are not "disposable retired pay," the District Court ordered Erich to pay indemnification comparable to Raina's share of the waived retirement pay. In doing so, the District Court effectively awarded Raina a portion of the hard-earned disability benefits that federal law so vigorously protects. Then, when Erich initiated appellate proceedings, the District Court awarded Raina \$5,000 for attorneys' fees pendente lite because "Erich should pay something."

Erich respectfully asks this Court to overturn both orders. Although the District Court's rulings are a disaster for Erich and an insult to his many sacrifices, the issues in this case are much greater than a single divorce. Accordingly, for the reasons detailed below, Erich hopes to correct the District Court's errors and vindicate veterans' interests in their hard-earned disability benefits.

V. <u>RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

A. THE PARTIES.

Erich served in the United States Army for twenty years. For most of his career, Erich worked in Special Forces, an elite subset of the Army which requires qualification. Erich completed missions in locations across the globe. Although many of the details regarding his missions are either classified or too difficult to discuss, Erich displayed valor and a multitude of proficiencies. Consistent with his many achievements, Erich received a number of medals, ribbons and badges. Unfortunately, as a result of his difficult military career, Erich also sustained a number of permanent physical and neurological disabilities. Erich also suffers with mental health challenges, as is all too common for veterans who survived horrific situations. *See*, *e.g.*, 4 AA 630 (listing some of Erich's undisputed disabilities).

In April 2002, Erich married Raina. Throughout most of their marriage, Raina was a homemaker and/or a student. After taking time off to raise the couple's minor son, Nathan, Raina completed schooling to become a dental hygienist.²

² Raina was able to complete her schooling in large part because of Erich's GI Bill benefits.

The couples' relationship deteriorated for a number of ugly reasons. Although the divorce proceeding and post-decree proceeding have dragged on for over six years, both Raina and Erich have built new lives. Erich married his wife, Julie, and is a proud step-parent and step-grandparent. Raina is in a registered domestic partnership with Tony Bricker, and is a step-mother to his children. Despite a lot of drama related to Nathan³ and years of court proceedings, both the Martin household and Martin / Bricker household enjoy financial stability and resources far greater than many people.

B. EARLY FAMILY COURT PROCEEDINGS.

On February 2, 2015, Erich filed a complaint for divorce. *See generally* 1 AA 1-6. A few weeks later, Raina filed an answer and counterclaim. 1 AA 7-14. In the early months of the divorce proceedings, the primary issue of contention was visitation and support for Nathan. *See generally* 1 AA 43-46 (Register of Action). Raina also sought temporary spousal support. *Id.* at 43 (entry dated February 25, 2015).

During a hearing in April 2015, the District Court noted that a separation agreement that the parties' prepared for themselves was not effective because it lacked a notary's stamp and date. 2 AA 160; *see also* 2 AA 119-34 (proposed

³ Thankfully, the appeals before this Court do not involve any child support or custody issues.

agreement). The parties were then referred to the Family Mediation Center and Settlement Masters Program. 2 AA 161. It is unclear what, if anything, happened when the parties reported for mediation. However, one attorney appeared on June 2, 2015, to represent to the District Court that the parties had reached an agreement. 2 AA 164. The terms of the alleged agreement were not put on the record. 2 AA 166-69. From the short transcript, it appears that the Court also did not receive a written settlement agreement. *Id*.

On October 13, 2015, Erich's then-counsel filed a motion to withdraw based on Erich's refusal to sign a draft divorce decree. 2 AA 170-75. The motion implied that Erich and his counsel did not see eye-to-eye regarding settlement negotiations and a proposed decree. *Id*.

Two days later, Raina filed a motion to enforce settlement. 2 AA 176-82. After Erich failed to respond to the motion – an unsurprising omission given the tensions with legal counsel – Raina requested a summary disposition of the decree. 1 AA 46-47.

On October 28, 2015, the District Court held a hearing regarding pending matters. *See generally* 2 AA 215-27. During the hearing, Erich's counsel represented that the decree had not been signed because of issues that were unresolved after Settlement Masters. 2 AA 218. Counsel for both parties also discussed the issue of Erich's counsel attempting to withdraw and the "breakdown

of communications" that occurred. 2 AA 218-19. Erich then requested an opportunity to speak for himself. 2 AA 223. After expressing dissatisfaction with his counsel, Erich began to explain how the discussion at Settlement Masters "went completely the wrong way." *Id.* The Court and Raina's counsel cut Erich off. 2 AA 223-24. Although Raina's counsel acknowledged "it was our understanding he was not going to sign it [the agreement]," and Erich added "I never received anything," the Court moved on to granting counsel's motion to withdraw. 2 AA 223-25.

Rather than incurring more fees that he could not afford, Erich eventually signed off on the proposed decree. 2 AA 223, 247.

The Court entered the Decree of Divorce on November 5, 2015. 2 AA 230. Despite their withdrawal, *Erich's counsel* filed a notice of entry on November 10, 2015. 2 AA 228-29.

The Decree provided, in relevant part, that Raina would receive as her separate property the marital home, bank accounts held in her name, a Mercedes GLK vehicle, all personal property in her possession and control, and "one-half (1/2) of the marital interest in the [sic] Erich's military retirement." 2 AA 240. By contrast, Erich received an IRA account, a truck, and personal property that was in his possession and control. 2 AA 241

The decree also ordered "the parties shall use Marshall S. Willick, Esq. to prepare a qualified domestic relations order ("QDRO") to divide the pension." 2 AA 241. "Should Erich select to accept military disability payments," the Decree further provided that "Erich shall reimburse Raina for any amount of that her share of the pension is reduced due to the disability status." *Id.* Finally, the Decree granted Raina \$1,000 a month for spousal support for a total of twenty-four months beginning June 2015. 2 AA 243-44.

Completion of the QDRO proved challenging. Throughout 2016, drama between the parties escalated to the point that civil conversations were rare. Unsurprisingly, drama spilled over into a flurry of court filings. *See generally* 1 AA 50-54 (Register of Action).

During return hearing in September 2016, the Court questioned why a QDRO had not been executed and why Erich had refused to sign the draft document. In response, Erich highlighted Raina's failure to be forthright regarding important issues, including her registered domestic partnership with Tony Bricker. Again, the District Court did not entertain Erich's concerns. Instead, the Court ordered: "It [the QDRO] needs to be completed. I want it postmarked in the mail no later than 5:00 p.m. Friday signed." *See also* 4 AA 641. Given the Court's directive, Erich complied and signed the proposed Order Incident to Decree of

Divorce. 4 AA 606 (showing notarization on September 23, 2016). The Court then entered the order on November 14, 2016.⁴ 4 AA 608.

C. EVENTS AFTER ERICH'S RETIREMENT.

Erich retired from the Army on July 31, 2019. After his retirement, the Department of Veterans Affairs rated Erich disabled and found him eligible for disabled retirement benefits. The CRSC Division of the Army also determined that Erich was eligible for Combat Related Special Compensation because of his serious, combat-related injuries. As required under federal law, *see* Subsection VIII(A)(1), *infra*, Erich waived retirement pay in order to receive disability benefits from the Department of Veterans Affairs and Combat Related Special Compensation.

On May 1, 2020, Raina filed a Motion to Enforce in which she requested compensation for the loss of retirement pay. 3 AA 339-356. In the motion, Raina correctly recognized "*Howell* actually stands for the proposition that a Court can't order the division of a disability benefit, whether the disability occurs before or after the divorce. Doing so would be beyond the jurisdiction of the Court." 3 AA 346. However, based on the parties' alleged agreement, Raina argued that Erich

⁴ Since the Order Incident to Decree of Divorce merely "clarified" the decree, 4 AA 599, it was not appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(8) and *Burton*, 99 Nev. at 700, 669 P.2d at 705.

was obligated to indemnify her for the loss. 3 AA 343-47. Raina then concluded the motion with a request for "[a]n order for *permanent alimony* in an amount equal to that which Raina should be receiving [\$844.08⁵] plus any future cost of living increases should be entered by the Court." 3 AA 349 (emphasis added).

Erich vigorously opposed the motion. *See generally* 3 AA 367-79 (Response); 380-444 (Exhibits). Although Erich was self-represented, his response included an impressive discussion of federal preemption and the authorities which prohibit state courts from ordering any division of a veterans' disability benefits. 3 AA 368-72. In particular, Erich emphasized the *Howell* decision in which the Supreme Court ruled that courts may not use semantics or creative orders to "displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress." Erich also challenged Raina's contract-based arguments because he did not voluntarily assent to the terms of the alleged settlement or the QDRO. 3 AA 373.

After a hearing, 4 AA 530-583, the District Court issued an Order Regarding Enforcement of Military Retirement Benefits. *See generally* 4 AA 610-33. In the order, the Court acknowledged that federal law prohibits state courts from ordering

⁵ The motion to enforce referenced previous payments in the amount of \$844.08. It is unclear if this amount is correct under the Time Rule since the parties and Court were more focused on the legality of Raina's request.

the division of a veteran's disability benefits. 4 AA 613-18. The District Court also correctly noted that "*Howell* makes very clear that this court is without jurisdiction to order indemnification." 4 AA 630. However, after finding that Erich and Raina "voluntarily" agreed to the indemnification provisions in the decree, the District Court concluded that *Howell* had no impact on the parties' ability to "freely contract." 4 AA 624-25, 631. In so ruling, the District Court rejected Erich's arguments regarding the reasons he grudgingly and involuntarily signed the decree and QDRO. 4 AA 641. Though neither party raised or briefed the issue, the District Court held in the alternative that res judicata (claim preclusion) supported its decision. 4 AA 657-59.

In its conclusion, the District Court denied Raina's request for permanent alimony. 4 AA 661. However, the Court ordered Erich to personally pay Raina \$845.43 plus applicable cost of living adjustments every month. 4 AA 661. The order includes no limit on duration. *Id*. The District Court also ordered Erich to pay \$5,918.01 for arrears. *Id*.

After entry of the District Court's Order Regarding Enforcement of Military Retirement Benefits, Erich timely appealed. 4 AA 634-662.

D. ATTORNEYS' FEES PENDENTE LITE.

On September 30, 2020, Raina filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs Pendente Lite and Related Relief. 4 AA 675-85. In the motion, Raina argued for \$20,000 in attorney fees pursuant to NRS 125.040⁶ for the fees that she would incur defending against Erich's then-forthcoming appeal. *Id*.

Erich filed a timely opposition in which he highlighted both parties' professional careers and Raina's ability to pay for legal counsel. 4 AA 686-700. Erich also argued that Raina's request for fees lacked adequate evidence to support the *Brunzell / Wright* factors. *Id*.

After a hearing, *see generally* 5 AA 755-779, the District Court entered a written order which consisted of quotes from the hearing transcript. 5 AA 780-92. In the order – as in the Court's verbal remarks – the Court recognized that both Raina and Erich are professionals "who make very nice incomes and [that] neither party is destitute by any means." 5 AA 787. The Court also acknowledged that "Raina's expenses are reduced by her domestic partner and his very large income," so, "[w]hen you balance out the household incomes, they are fairly equivalent." 5 AA 787-88. Yet, after correctly finding that both Erich and Raina are fortunate compared to most and correctly finding no disparity in income, the District Court then backtracked by finding that Erich should "contribute something toward Raina's attorney's fees because this is all, at the end of the day, going to effect

⁶ This statute provides, in relevant part, "In any suit for divorce the court may . . . require either party to pay moneys necessary to assist the other party in accomplishing one or more of the following: . . . (c) To enable the other party to carry on or defend such suit."

[sic] her greater financially." 5 AA 788. Without any further explanation, the District Court then concluded, "The Court is not inclined to grant all of the attorney fees. The Court does not want anybody being destitute by this, but Erich should pay something so he will contribute \$5,000 to her attorney's fees." *Id.*

Erich filed another notice of appeal. 5 AA 793-03; 804-46 (amended notice). After this Court denied Raina's motion to dismiss the appeal, both matters were consolidated. *See* order dated April 23, 2021.

VI. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This matter centers on important issues of law that are reviewed de novo including federal preemption concerns, interpretation of case law, and resolution of a novel issue of statewide importance. *See, e.g., Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9641 Christine View v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n*, 134 Nev. 270, 271, 417 P.3d 363, 366 (2018); *Double Diamond v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 131 Nev. 557, 561, 354 P.3d 641, 644 (2015); *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding*, 131 Nev. 80, 85, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015).

An award of attorneys' fees in a divorce proceeding is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See*, *e.g.*, *Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 90, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006); *Ellett v. Ellett*, 94 Nev. 34, 40, 573 P.2d 1179, 1182 (1978).

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution provides that federal law is "the supreme Law of the Land." *See* Art. VI, cl. 2. Although states typically have significant authority over family law, division of veterans' benefits is "one of those rare instances where Congress has directly and specifically legislated in the area of domestic relations." *Mansell v. Mansell*, 490 U.S. 581, 587, 109 S. Ct. 2023, 2028 (1989). Given the importance of the Armed Forces to national security and the very freedoms that Americans enjoy, it is unsurprising that Congress chose to legislate in this area. When a veteran has endured permanent disabilities as a result of his or her service, Congress' desire to protect their hard-earned benefits is all the more legitimate.

In this case, Erich dedicated twenty years of his life to serving in the Army's Special Forces. Multiple tours of duty, dangerous missions, and physically intensive labor took a serious toll on Erich's body. After witnessing countless horrors, surviving near-death experiences, and losing too many brothers-in-arms, Erich's service also took a toll on Erich's mind. Although few would argue being a military spouse is easy, Raina made no such sacrifices while living comfortably in the United States. Raina also does not have to live with the challenges and expenses that come with permanent disabilities.

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