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

ARGUMENT

Analysis of VA waivers after *Howell* requires understanding the context of the Court's ruling. *Howell* did not involve an agreement by the parties for the husband to pay back any waived money, and the opinion said nothing about the enforceability of any such agreement. The Court's ruling was actually very narrow, addressing a state's ability to impose indemnification; the decision did not address *res judicata* in

The existence of a final unappealed decree can be important, as there are some courts that have indicated that if *Howell* was issued during current divorce litigation, they would have the court consider its impact on an agreement in that litigation. *See Russ v. Russ*, 2021-NMSC-014, 485 P.3d 223, 2021 N.M. LEXIS 12, 2021 WL 1220719, reversing 456 P.3d 1100 (N.M. Ct. App. 2019).

any way and contained neither a ruling nor dicta on the issue of contractual indemnification regarding VA waivers.¹²⁵

I. IT IS RES JUDICATA THAT ERICH OWES REIMBURSEMENT PAYMENTS TO RAINA

This Court has faced exactly this issue several times, and it should be resolved here the same way it was resolved in the prior cases, for exactly the same reasons.

In *Duke v. Duke*, ¹²⁶ the parties had divorced in 1980 and the *Decree* called for the wife to receive 35% of the husband's military retired pay. After the decision in

at 17-22, 28-30. Here, the district court found that Erich and Raina were free to contract in any way they desired. The district court also found that the terms in the final, unappealed *Decree* established the law of the case. "The 'law of the case' doctrine holds that when a court decides upon a rule of law, that decision should generally control the same issues throughout the subsequent stages in the same case." Steven Baicker-McKee, William M. Janssen & John B. Corr, Federal Civil Handbook 1079 (2010) (citing *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 618, 103 S. Ct. 1382, 1391 (1983)). The doctrine of law of the case prevents further litigation of these issues and cannot be avoided by more detailed and precisely focused arguments. *See Hall v. State*, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975).

¹²⁶ Duke v. Duke, 98 Nev. 148, 643 P.2d 1205 (1982).

McCarty, ¹²⁷ the husband refused to make any payments to the wife, claiming that federal law stated that she was not entitled to anything. ¹²⁸

At the district court, the wife moved to enforce arrearages, and the husband claimed that the court was powerless to enforce the *Decree* in light of the federal case law stating that military retirement benefits belonged to the veteran alone. The district court disagreed, and the husband appealed.

This Court, noting that the husband had not appealed from the *Decree*, was direct and explicit:

Nothing in *McCarty* . . . suggests that the Supreme Court intended its decision to apply retroactively to invalidate, or otherwise render unenforceable, prior valid and unappealed state court decrees. . . . *McCarty* does not alter the res judicata consequences of a divorce decree which was final before *McCarty* was filed. ¹²⁹

¹²⁷ McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210, 101 S. Ct. 2728 (1981).

¹²⁸ Until passage of the USFSPA in 1983, *McCarty* had held that military retirement benefits could not be treated as marital or community property for any purpose, a much more sweeping holding than the non-disability versus disability distinction later made in the USFSPA.

¹²⁹ Duke v. Duke, 98 Nev. at 149, citing federal and state authority from elsewhere.

This Court issued an unpublished order in *Krone v. Krone*,¹³⁰ under the reasoning in *Duke*, requiring a husband to continue making payments contracted in the parties' marital settlement agreement, which was ratified by their final, unappealed divorce decree, despite issuance of the *Mansell* decision, as a matter of *res judicata*.

The *Shelton*¹³¹ case involved a couple who divorced *after McCarty* and passage of the USFSPA, in which the husband ceased making the stipulated payments to the wife and claimed that *Mansell I*¹³² prevented the courts from enforcing the payment term. This Court, citing *Mansell II*, ¹³³ noted that "states are not preempted from enforcing orders that are res judicata," and enforced the contracted-for equal division of payments received by the husband.

¹³⁰ *Krone v. Krone*, No. 27235 (Order Dismissing Appeal and Cross-Appeal, May 26, 1996), unpublished disposition.

¹³¹ Shelton v. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492, 78 P.3d 507 (2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 960, 124 S.Ct. 1716, 158 L.Ed.2d 401 (2004).

¹³² Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581, 109 S. Ct. 2023 (1989).

¹³³ *In re Marriage of Mansell*, 217 Cal. App. 3d 219, 230, 265 Cal Rptr. 227, 233 (Ct. App. 1989), on remand from 490 U.S. 581, 109 S.Ct. 2023 (1989).

¹³⁴ 119 Nev. at 496, 78 P.3d at 509, citing case law from throughout the country.

The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in *Shelton*, as it had in *Msansell II*, apparently for the reason explained in *Mansell I* and noted by the family court in this case: "the issue of *res judicata* is a matter of state law over which [federal courts] have no jurisdiction." *Howell* affirmed *Mansell*, and said nothing whatsoever about the *Mansell I* holding on *res judicata*; no known federal decision has issued criticizing the reasoning of or legal bases relied upon by this Court in *Shelton*. Since then, this Court has repeatedly stressed the importance of *res judicata* in divorce actions. ¹³⁷

Over the years there have been many efforts by military members to cease payments required by final, unappealed divorce decrees, based on later federal cases; they have failed, with fair uniformity, on *res judicata* grounds. In one particularly notable federal case (referencing many such cases from throughout the country), the United States Claims Court carefully examined a class action brought by groups of former military members divorced before or after the relevant cases, whose divorce

¹³⁵ VII RA 1321, *quoting Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 586 n.5.

¹³⁶ Notably, the only reason an alimony form of remedy was not utilized in the alternative in *Shelton* was that, in that case, the trial court "lacked jurisdiction to hear a request for alimony when alimony had been waived in the final divorce decree." The relevance of that distinction is examined below.

¹³⁷ See, e.g., Doan v. Wilkerson, 130 Nev. 449, 328 P.3d 498 (2014).

decrees divided the military retirement benefits, and who sought to reduce or eliminate payments to their former spouses.¹³⁸

The federal Claims Court soundly rejected all such contentions, and the federal Circuit Court affirmed with equal unanimity, despite the decision in *Mansell I* during the appeal. The opinion recounted the retirees' "odysseys through the state and federal courts challenging state court decrees dividing their retired pay" and noted that the retirees "were unable, as a final matter, to convince any of these courts that division of their retirement pay was unconstitutional or legally improper." 139

Erich argues (AOB at 22-23) that *Howell* applies "retroactively," but that false "issue" is sophistry. The actual question is whether *Howell* said anything to alter the holding in *Mansell I* that issues of *res judicata* are outside the scope of its holdings, which is why Mr. Mansell was required to continue making payments to Mrs. Mansell after the decision in the *Mansell* case itself. None of the cases cited by Erich

¹³⁸ See Fern v. United States, 15 Cl. Ct. 580 (1988) (denying retiree's attempts to circumvent judgments in favor of their former spouses in all three categories of cases), *aff'd*, 908 F.2d 955 (Fed. Cir. 1990).

¹³⁹ *Id.*, 15 Cl. Ct. at 592.

involved a military member who, years after a final, unappealed divorce decree, stopped making payments required by that decree.¹⁴⁰

Several of the reported cases upholding contractual indemnification in unappealed divorce decrees as *res judicata* are virtually identical to this case. For example, in *In re Marriage of Weiser*,¹⁴¹ the Washington court found, exactly as Judge Burton did in this case, that the husband was barred from attacking the unappealed final decree because the decree and his motion involved (1) the same subject matter, (2) the same cause of action, (3) the same persons or parties, and (4)

¹⁴⁰ Even if there was such a case, *res judicata* is a matter of state law, and states may vary in their desired application of the doctrine. Nevada, like California, Washington, and many others, has held that *res judicata* prevents a military member from challenging an unappealed decree requiring such payments, as explained in *Shelton* and *Mansell II*, and the United States Supreme Court has refused to entertain challenges to those holdings.

¹⁴¹ In re Marriage of Weiser, 475 P.3d 237 (Wash. Ct. App. 2020).

the same quality of persons for or against whom the decision is made as did a prior adjudication.¹⁴² All required findings were made by Judge Burton.¹⁴³

Erich nevertheless attacks *Shelton* (AOB at 34-37), falsely claiming that "the weight of persuasive authority" requires it – without noting that all of the expert commentary and great majority of cases state otherwise. He also claims that *Shelton* was issued before *Howell*, which is true but irrelevant, since *Shelton* was decided after and discussed at length *Mansell I*, which *Howell* simply affirmed.

Finally, Erich's claim that he was not given an opportunity to brief the *res judicata* cases (AOB at 42) is false; the reasoning was explicitly raised in the cases raised by both sides, and Erich's attorney was offered the opportunity to file a further brief and declined to do so.¹⁴⁴

N.E.3d 391 (Ind. Ct. App. 2019); *In re: Marriage of Chigi and Diclerico*, ____ P.3d ____, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 1994, 2019 WL 3415926 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019) (motion to "clarify" spousal maintenance term barred by issue preclusion); *Boutte v. Boutte*, 304 So. 3d 467 (La. Ct. App. 2020) (former husband barred by *res judicata* from re-litigating requirement to continue making payments to former spouse regardless of disability application).

¹⁴³ See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 194 P.3d 709 (2008). In this case the exact "claim" and "issue" in question – contractual indemnification – is spelled out on the face of the MSA, and both the *Decree* and OID, between the same parties, in the same case. The term was "necessarily litigated and decided."

¹⁴⁴ X RA 1801.

Erich makes the unsupported claim (AOB at 37) that *Shelton* is "outdated and unworkable," but makes no showing of any kind how that is true, as it has properly worked to prevent unjust deprivation and unjust enrichment for 20 years.

II. THE FAMILY COURT PROPERLY ENFORCED THE PARTIES' STIPULATED CONTRACT¹⁴⁵

The majority of post-*Howell* decisions do not involve either *res judicata* or any consideration of enforcement of contracts and simply hold that *Howell* disallows the

contains multiple false assertions of fact, since he asks whether a contract can be enforced "where Erich was forced to sign the Decree of Divorce and related QDRO despite his objections and inability to negotiate material terms." As detailed above, Erich entirely ignores the existence of the stipulated MSA; he was not "forced" to sign the *Decree* (when asked, Erich responded that he thought he "had already done so"); and Erich freely negotiated all terms, which were written by his own attorney, who appeared in court to report that all points were resolved by voluntary stipulation. There is zero evidence that Erich ever "objected" to any of the military retirement and contractual indemnification terms of the *Decree* or OID – until he sought to renege and find a way to cheat Raina out of the benefits he promised to indemnify.

court ordered division of disability payments, ¹⁴⁶ which general holding is not at issue here. ¹⁴⁷

The "contractual" concept for indemnification is central. Indemnity is "a contract by which one engages to save another from a legal consequence of the conduct of one of the parties, or of some other person." Contractual indemnification never came up in the *Howell* case because *there was no* agreement to indemnify involved, just a property settlement for a 50/50 division of the pension, which had been approved by the court.

The distinction is important. In *Mansell*, ¹⁴⁹ cited in *Howell*, the husband had argued that federal law did not allow for agreement by the parties to divide those

¹⁴⁶ See generally *Hamrick v. Beth (In re Hamrick)*, 627 B.R. 619 n.10, 2021 Bankr. LEXIS 1112 n.10, 2021 WL 1554249; *Foster v. Brooks*, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 223256; *Tarver v. Reynolds*, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 138858, 2019 WL 3889721; *Brown v. Brown*, 260 So. 3d 851, 2018 Ala. Civ. App. LEXIS 54, 2018 WL 1559790; *Jordan v. Jordan*, 480 P.3d 626, 2021 Alas. LEXIS 15, 2021 WL 526276; *In re Marriage of Tozer*, 2017 COA 151, 410 P.3d 835, 2017 Colo. App. LEXIS 1537, 2017 WL 5897807; *Vlach v. Vlach*, 556 S.W.3d 219, 2017 Tenn. App. LEXIS 717, 2017 WL 4864991.

¹⁴⁷ We note without further comment that Erich does not acknowledge this, or cite or analyze the majority of authority or any of the expert analysis, ignoring Justice Stiglich's warning not to "cite a foreign authority without acknowledging that it is a minority view." *Appealing Appeals*, *supra*, at 9.

¹⁴⁸ Restatement (SECOND) of Judgments § 1 (1982).

¹⁴⁹ *Mansell*, 490 U.S. at 582-84.

benefits, but the Court declined to consider or address those arguments, leaving such agreements open for later decision. As detailed above, on remand, the spouse was ordered to continue receiving the contracted-for portion of the disability pay.

In other words, the Supreme Court left open the ability of parties to contract for indemnification of the spouse with an agreement to pay the spouse a portion of the VA disability compensation or the waived retired pay. In fact, *Howell* itself instructs attorneys and courts to take that "contingency" into account and draft decrees of divorce accordingly:

Family courts remain free to take account of the contingency that some military retirement pay might be waived or take account of reductions in value when calculating or recalculating the need for spousal support.

Thus, *Howell* on its face allows parties and courts to consider the potential loss of the military retirement benefits and to take remedial action in decrees. This is completely compatible with Nevada law, which has long expressly embraced the contract theory in military disability indemnification cases.¹⁵⁰

Here, Raina and Erich *did* expressly contemplate the possibility of Erich taking some disability at the time he was to retire, and created a contract that provided for

¹⁵⁰ Shelton v. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492, 78 P.3d 507, 511 (Nev. 2003).

the direct indemnification by Erich to Raina if the contingency actually arose. In other words, they "took account of this contingency" at the time of divorce as the United States Supreme Court said that they should.¹⁵¹

Specifically, their agreement and decree includes the specific contract that, "Should Erich select to accept military disability payments, Erich shall reimburse Raina for any amount that her share of the pension is reduced due to the disability status." This is the contractual agreement that did not exist in the decree at issue in *Howell*, and provides a specific contractual remedy agreed by the parties, not imposed by a court.

This issue has been studied in depth by members of the American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers (AAML); the issue of contractual agreement was thoroughly analyzed in a recent volume of its Journal, in which the *Howell* decision was dissected and determined to be actually a very narrow decision which applies *only* to

divorce courts can impose a spousal support award but can't "just" impose a dollar for dollar alimony. While the opinion is not very specific, some other courts have held that in the absence of an explicit agreement a court would have to take into account all of the required alimony factors and determine what alimony amount would be fair and equitable, resulting in an alimony award that could be greater or less than the amount lost due to the waiver of retired pay. *See*, *e.g.*, *Cassinelli II*, *Marriage of Cassinelli*, 20 Cal. App. 5th 1267, 229 Cal. Rptr. 3d 801 (Ct. App. 2018).

cases in which there is no underlying agreement, and leaves open the possibility of contractual agreements.¹⁵² In other words, *Howell* does not apply to this case.

A Texas court explained why such contracts do not run afoul of *Howell*:

A property settlement agreement incorporated into a divorce decree is treated as a contract in Texas, and its meaning is governed by the law of contracts. *McGoodwin*, 671 S.W.2d at 882. Rudolph has not pleaded any theory in avoidance of the contract's provision for alternative distributions to Jamieson in the event of his waiver of retired pay or receipt of other separation compensation.¹⁵³

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